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property, the western terminus of the wall is also damaged. While the top section is intact, the base and footing have collapsed into
the stream.

The retaining wall is a remnant feature of the turnpike operated by the Frederick and Harper’s Ferry Road Company. The retaining
wall dates to circa 1830 and is likely an improvement feature from the turnpike era of the road. Minutes from the Frederick and
Harper’s Ferry Road Proceedings dated July 28, 1833 indicate the retaining wall may have been stabilized in that year.(1) "[T]he
embankment on the east side of bridge number 6 and the embankment opposite Joseph Easterdays [sic] are all too narrow, also the
cut down the hill east of said Easterdays [sic] - and the road immediately west of Easterday’s Springhouse will require widening
and filling up..."(2) The house and spring to which the writer refers remain standing approximately 300 yards to the east. Small
Structure 10211RO0 is one of two retaining walls west of Easterday’s springhouse.

The Frederick and Harper’s Ferry Tumnpike was constructed on the alignment of the Great Wagon Road. Most historians theorize
the road was forged by wagons travelling across a geographically convenient path well worn by centuries of Native American
travels.(3)(4)(5) Also known as the Ridge Road, Valley Road, or Monocacy Road, the Great Wagon Road originated in
Philadelphia and connected to Lancaster before forging westward into the hills and valleys of central Pennsylvania. After crossing
into Maryland and over Catoctin Mountain at Crampton’s Gap, the road moved southwest through the Middletown Valley prior to
crossing the Potomac River into the Shenandoah Valley of Virginia at Harper’s Ferry.(6) The Great Wagon Road is well cited as
the conduit for German, Scotch-Irish, and English settlers to populate the American Colonies west of the Appalachians.(7) In
Maryland, the road not only moved goods and settlers, it fostered town growth and economic activity. In 1745, Daniel Dulany laid
out the town of Frederick where the Great Wagon Road crossed Carroll Creek, a tributary of the Monocacy River.(8) Southwest of
Frederick, small towns Jefferson and Petersville were established along the Great Wagon Road. During the 18th century and early
19th century, this southern portion of the road served as the primary overland route for travelers and goods between Frederick and
Harper’s Ferry on the Potomac River.(9)

The idea to construct a turnpike between Frederick and Harper’s Ferry is an old one, first mentioned in the Laws of Maryland in
1790 in "an act to lay out several tumpike roads in Baltimore county [sic]; one other road from Frederick-town to Harper’s ferry
[sic]." (10) In 1807, the General Assembly referred to committee a petition by residents of Frederick County to authorize the
Baltimore and Frederick Turnpike Company to sell stock "for the purpose of paving and turnpiking a road leading out of the
Baltimore and Frederick-town turnpike road from thence to New-town, and from thence to Harper’s ferry."(11) The petition made
enough of an impression such that in December of 1809 the General Assembly discussed an act to incorporate a company to build
a tummpike "from Frederick-town to and through Newtown Trap [Jefferson], from thence to cross the Catoctin creek [sic] at or near
Jesse Matthew’s Mill thence by or near John Hilleary’s Mill to Harper’s Ferry."(12) The new company was to be governed by the
established Baltimore and Frederick Turnpike Company. The road was to be 60 feet wide with an 18 foot-wide paved section.
The act passed on January 6, 1810.

The company apparently had not organized by 1811, as in December of that year the General Assembly passed an act to extend the
prior year’s incorporation act by three years.(13) Additional acts to incorporate a turnpike company were passed in 1812, 1817,
1824, 1827 and 1828. The final act met with success.(14) The Frederick and Harper’s Ferry Turnpike Company organized in 1830
and in June of that year began making provisions to improve the colonial wagon road between the two towns.(15) By September
the turnpike company had received proposals to construct five half-mile sections beginning at the western town limits of

Frederick. The section of the turnpike between seven and ten miles from Frederick was constructed by John H. R. Stafford.(16)
On May 27, 1831 Stafford sent an invoice in the amount of $2100 to the turnpike company for the work.(17) SHA Structure
10211RO0 is approximately 9.5 miles from the historical town limits of Frederick. It is possible that the retaining wall was
constructed under the direction of Stafford.
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Around this time, there were a variety of transportation routes being constructed in the vicinity of the Frederick and Harper’s Ferry
Turnpike. Along the north bank of the Potomac River, approximately five miles to the south, both the Chesapeake and Ohio Canal
(C & O Canal) and the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad (B & O RR) were taking shape. The C & O Canal began in Washington in
1828 as a commercial effort to link the city with the Ohio River Valley. The canal company constructed an aqueduct across the
Catoctin Creek from 1832 to 1834.(18) Construction of the B & O RR also commenced in 1828. Service to Point of Rocks in the
Middletown Valley began on April 2, 1832.(19)

Competition from these alternative transportation routes was a contributing factor in the economic failure of the Frederick and
Harper’s Ferry Turnpike. By the 1840s the company was heavily indebted to its creditors. One of the final acts of the company,
however, was to construct a covered bridge over the Catoctin Creek.(20) On April 22 1847, the company authorized Rio Maught
and Col. Henry Cullen, two local residents and officers in the company, to form a committee to build a bridge over the creek. The
treasurer also allocated $1500 for bridge construction.(21) On October 25, 1847 the contract to construct the bridge was awarded
to Joseph H. Feagler and Robert and Henry McDaniel. The total amount of the contract was $2200. A payment of $1.75 to J.
Feagler on August 18, 1848 was made so that he could record his bond.(22) This likely indicates that construction was about to
commence. Payments of $700 and $1400 were made to J.Feagler on November 7, 1848 and February 14, 1849 respectively.(23)
The covered bridge remained in service through 1928 when it was replaced by the current structure. The abutments for the old
bridge remain in place. These abutments bear a visual resemblance to the retaining walls situated a few yards to the east. It is
possible that Small Structure 1021 1R0 was built or rehabilitated at the same time the bridge was constructed.

On March 13, 1848 the Frederick and Harper’s Ferry Turnpike became insolvent and transferred their corporate rights, franchises
and real estate to the Frederick County Levy Court.(24) At the time of the transfer in ownership, the company owed $1616 to
Washington County for the repair and maintenance of the road and $1684 to Colonel John Thomas. The court also vowed to pay
no more than $1000 in miscellaneous debts owed to stockholders (indicating the actual debt may have been greater) and use any
additional proceeds of the company’s lottery to settle unpaid dividends owed to stockholders. Toll rates were cut in half and
Frederick County continued to operate the turnpike as a toll facility.(25) The county maintained the road through the 1909 when
the road was marked for improvement by the State Roads Commission (SRC).

In 1911, the SRC purchased the turnpike right-of-way.(26) The next year the portion of the road from Jefferson to Knoxville was
paved.(27) In 1915 the road from Frederick to Jefferson was straightened, widened, and paved.(28) The Frederick-Knoxville
highway was widened to 17-foot (5.2 m) in width around 1926 and became part of US 340 in 1927.(29) In 1934 the road was
widened to 20-feet. A new bridge over the Potomac River was constructed in 1948 and a new bridge across the Catoctin Creek
was constructed in 1961 in advance of the US 340 relocation. Sections of the four lane highway from Frederick to Charles Town,
West Virginia that would become modern day US 340 opened every year from 1964 to 1972.(30)

SHA Small Structure 10211RO0 is evaluated for the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) as a stone retaining wall.
Retaining walls are typically not eligible for the NRHP. According to the historic context Small Structures on Maryland’s
Roadways, a small structure may be eligible for the NRHP under Criterion A if it stands on a roadway highly significant to the
early growth and development of the state. Small Structure 10211R0 was built as a feature to support improvement of the
Frederick and Harper’s Ferry Turnpike circa 1830 as part of the turnpike movement in Maryland. The development of the
Frederick and Harper’s Ferry Turnpike is part of a historically significant trend of constructing privately funded turnpikes during
the nineteenth century which connected Frederick to Baltimore (1805), Woodsborough (1832), Emmitsburg (1845), Buckeystown
(1860). The turnpike is additionally an integral part of the broader history of the Great Wagon Road, which began in Philadelphia,
travelled through the Middletown and Shenandoah Valleys south into western North Carolina. When the Maryland General
Assembly incorporated the Frederick and Harper’s Ferry Road Company in 1830, responsibility of maintaining a section of the
road was transferred from Frederick County to a private company for the first time. Physical and documentary evidence indicate
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that Small Structure 10211R0 was constructed during the early improvements made to the turnpike right-of-way. For its
association with the Frederick and Harper’s Ferry Tumnpike, SHA Small Structure 10211R0 is eligible for the NRHP under
Criterion A. Its period of significance is 1830 to 1849, from the time the tumpike was operated by the Frederick and Harper’s
Ferry Road Company to the completion of the bridge across Catoctin Creek.

Research has identified a number of people associated with the local eighteenth and nineteenth century settlement around the
Catoctin Creek, organization of the Frederick and Harper’s Ferry Turnpike Company and construction of the road. However,
examination of historical documents has not been able to directly associate these individuals with the construction or maintenance
of Small Structure 10211R0. As such, the small structure is recommended not eligible for the NRHP under Criterion B.

Small Structure 10211RO retains integrity of location, setting, feeling, and association, but lacks integrity of design. While the
relative lack of maintenance during the functional history of the wall has preserved its integrity of feeling and association, it has
also caused the wall to fall into a state of disrepair. Integrity of materials and workmanship are questionable because sections of the
wall are overgrown, exhibit cracking and spalling mortar, and have even fallen into the creek below. Additionally, the wall
appears to have been repointed in the distant past, potentially outside the period of significance. The retaining wall is indicative of
mid-nineteenth century construction methods. However, in close proximity there is a better example of masonry construction from
the time period. The 1979 nomination for the NRHP-listed Chesapeake and Ohio Canal (F-2-11) specifically identifies the
"culvert face walls" as significant, in part for their "variations in stone texture." (NPS Section 8, Page 3) Because of the local
presence of better examples of the nineteenth century masonry walls, Small Structure 10211R0 is not eligible for the NRHP under
Criterion C.

The property was not evaluated under Criterion D as part of this assessment.
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